
Second United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

Geneva, Switzerland 
17 March – 26 April 1960 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.19/C.1/SR.9 

 
 

Ninth Meeting of the Committee of the Whole 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Second United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea (Summary Records of Plenary Meetings and of Meetings of the Committee of the Whole, 

Annexes and Final Act) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



Ninth meeting —30 March 1960 71

NINTH MEETING

Wednesday, 30 March 1960, at 3.20 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. Jose A. CORREA (Ecuador)

Consideration of the questions of the breadth of the
territorial sea and fishery limits in accordance with
resolution 1307 (XIII) adopted by the General Assembly
on 10 December 1958 (continued)

GENERAL DEBATE (continued)

Statements by Mr. Nogueira (Portugal), Mr. Okumura
(Japan) and Mr. Pfeiffer (Federal Republic of
Germany)

1. Mr. NOGUEIRA (Portugal) said that although at the
first United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea,
his delegation had voted for the United States proposal*
as opening the door to a possible compromise, it had
seen no legal reason for considering the three-mile rule
as dead; no more did it see such reason at the present
time. Much had been said about the shortcomings of
that rule and its inadequacy under present-day condi-
tions, but such gloomy prognostications had, perhaps, not
been properly tested against the statistical evidence.
In fact, the synoptical table in the Secretary-General's
note on the breadth and juridical status of the territorial
sea and adjacent zones (A/CONF.19/4) showed plainly
that out of the seventy-one States listed therein no less
than twenty-two expressly accepted the three-mile rule
and that in addition there were other States, like his own,
which adhered to that rule though there was no specific
provision on the subject in their municipal legislation.
To those who claimed that the three-mile rule was

obsolescent and would shortly fall into complete obli-
vion, he would point out that it had been expressly
confirmed within the last decade by five countries, and
that three countries which had gained their independence
after the Second World War had held to it. Moreover,
generally speaking, the three-mile limit was still applied
as a supplementary rule for the delimitation of the
territorial sea where no specific legislation existed. A
distinction had to be maintained between the principle
itself and the concept on which it might originally have
been based. Incontestably, the validity of the principle
could no longer be defended by reference to the criterion
of the range of a cannon, but the principle was viable
because new circumstances gave it new life. If the com-
munity of nations as a whole was to derive the maximum
benefit from the freedom of the high seas, the territorial
sea must be kept as narrow as possible, which was
why the Portuguese delegation was in favour of embodying
the three-mile rule in the multilateral convention which
it was the Conference's task to prepare.

2. The International Law Commission had been unable
to define, or even propose, a legal rule for the delimita-
tion of the territorial sea. In article 3, paragraph 1, of
the draft rules adopted at its eighth session,2 the Com-
mission had made a statement of fact which in no way
implied recognition of the existence of different rules of
law of equal validity. In paragraph 3 of the same article,
the Commission stated that it had not itself taken a
decision as to the breadth of the territorial sea up to a
limit of twelve miles, and in paragraph 4 that that
breadth should be fixed by an international conference.
Its view could be summarized as follows: that within
the range of state practice fixing the territorial sea
between three and twelve miles it could not propose a
rule, and that limits beyond twelve miles were not
admissible in international law. In other words, the
Commission had gone no farther than an impartial reader
of the synoptical table would go. That interpretation of
the Commission's position had been confirmed by one
of its members, the Brazilian representative, at the
previous meeting.

3. The breadth of the territorial sea had been fixed
unilaterally by some countries between a minimum limit
of three and a maximum limit of twelve miles. He left
aside claims to a wider belt, since they were regarded
by the Commission as not conforming with international
law. The synoptical table showed that four countries had
adopted a four-mile limit; one country (newly indepen-
dent) a five-mile limit; ten countries (including three
newly independent) a six-mile limit; one country a nine-
mile limit; one country a ten-mile limit and thirteen
countries (including only two newly independent) a
twelve-mile limit. Thus, of the seventy-one countries
listed in the table, at least thirty-five had adopted a limit
not exceeding six miles, whereas only fifteen had imposed
a wider one.

4. None of the four proposals before the Committee
(A/CONF.19/C.1/L.1 to L.4) prescribed a three-mile
limit, though it would have been permissible for them to
do so as they only sought to establish a maximum.
Two of the proposals had been submitted by countries

1 Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law
of the Sea, vol. II, annexes, document A/CONF.13/L.29.

2 See Official Records of the General Assembly, Eleventh Session,
Supplement No. 9, chap. II.



72 Meetings of the Committee of the Whole

countries adherents of the three-mile rule, doubtless
with the commendable aim of making a constructive
contribution to a universally acceptable solution.
5. With specific reference to those two proposals — those
of the United States of America (A/CONF.19/C.1/L.3)
and Canada (A/CONF.19/C.1/L.4) —he would himself
prefer a uniform limit because that would fulfil three
of the most important requisites of any rule of law,
namely: that it should be definite, unequivocal and
uniform. However, theoretical perfectionism must give
way to what was practicable, and his delegation, being
inclined to favour those proposals which came closest
to safeguarding the concept of a narrow territorial sea,
was prepared to support article 1 in either proposal,
whereby the maximum breadth of the territorial sea
would be fixed at six miles.
6. Turning to the problem of the fishing zone, he said
that the Conference had there been entrusted with the
complex task of creating a new rule of law. Such a rule
must be equitable both in its general and in its specific
application, and must take into account all legitimate
interests which had become established and accepted
within the existing legal framework.
7. Fishing in distant waters, some of which would come
within the scope of the outer zone as defined both in
the United States and Canadian proposals, was an im-
portant activity for his country. The legitimacy of such
fishing had been fully recognized by international law,
according to which the high seas were free and open
to use by all nations. Such distant-water fishing had long
been the practice of Portugal, among other countries,
and was carried out in accordance with the relevant
international rules and regulations, in good faith and
without detriment to or encroachment upon the rights
of any other State. Thousands of persons were engaged
in such fishing, and a large fleet of suitable craft had
been built up over the years. The catch represented one
of the main sources of animal protein for the Portuguese
people, and was entirely disposed of in the home market.
To illustrate its importance, he said that during the
period 1956-1958, out of 756,410 tons of yield from
demersal fishing, 609,589 tons had been cod, one of his
country's staple foods, caught in the north-western
Atlantic Ocean. Part of that tonnage had come from
waters that would fall within the fishing zone of coastal
States if either the United States or the Canadian proposal
were adopted. It should be added that foreign fishing
craft operated in analogous waters off the Portuguese
coasts.

8. Without going into the theory of the principle of
res communis, prescriptive rights and the like, he was
bound to emphasize that such practices as those he had
described, constituting effective and continued usage
wholly in conformity with international law, could not
in justice be ignored if the concept of an outer fishing
zone were to be embodied in a rule of international
law. Otherwise, the outlook would be bleak indeed for
the countries that engaged extensively in fishing: other
work would have to be found for the fishermen, the
people's feeding habits changed, craft dismantled or
reconverted at great cost, all with considerable capital
losses and the threat of unemployment. That did not
mean of course that the special rights which coastal
States might be entitled to exercise in their fishing zone

should themselves be ignored. Those rights could and
should be recognized alongside those of fishing States,
as laid down in the United States proposal, subject of
course to certain limitations that remained to be deter-
mined in the interests of all concerned.
9. There was no reason why the same kind of co-opera-
tion which had resulted in the conclusion at the 1958
Conference of the Convention on Fishing and Conserva-
tion of the Living Resources of the High Seas should
not bring about agreement on a rule on the outer fishing
zone. His delegation considered that the United States
proposal alone approached the matter in a constructive,
equitable and realistic way. Approval of that proposal
would cause Portugal substantial economic loss, but his
Government was none the less prepared to support it as
a sensible compromise which he was confident the
Conference would accept. There were no obstacles
which could not be overcome given goodwill and recipro-
cal understanding. His delegation was prepared to make
its contribution towards such a successful outcome
within the framework of the concepts and principles he
had outlined.

10. Mr. OKUMURA (Japan) emphasized that his
delegation attached great importance to the present
Conference as an opportunity, which might not soon
recur, for the nations to find an equitable solution to the
cardinal problems of the breadth of the territorial sea
and fishery limits. The first United Nations Conference
on the Law of the Sea had shown that the issue was
highly controversial and could only be settled in a spirit
of conciliation with the goodwill and co-operation of all
those taking part. At that Conference the United King-
dom had submitted a compromise proposals providing
for a territorial sea six miles broad, on the understanding
that if no agreement was possible on that compromise
the three-mile practice would remain the recognized rule
of international law. A number of other delegations,
including that of Japan, had expressed their readiness
to support such a proposal on the same understanding.
It was therefore wrong to assert, as some representatives
had done, that the three-mile rule had ceased to be a rule
of international law. The Japanese Government adhered
to the position it had taken at the first Conference, being
convinced that a rule of international law could be
changed only by means of an international agreement
based on a consensus of opinion among the nations.
Whatever position his delegation might take in the
further discussion and voting, he could assure the
Committee that it would be moved solely by a sincere
desire to see an acceptable compromise agreed upon at
the present Conference.

11. In his Government's view, any extension of the
breadth of the territorial sea, or the creation of an
exclusive fishing zone, would to that extent constitute
an encroachment on the freedom of the seas, which it
was the Conference's duty to uphold in the interests of
all mankind. He regretted that some countries should
be primarily interested in the immediate benefits to be
derived from extension of their territorial waters or
fishing zones, since it was more important to safeguard
and promote the long-term benefits that would accrue

3 Official Records of the United Nations Conference on the Law
of the Sea, vol. Ill, annexes, document A/CONF.13/C.1/L.134.



Ninth meeting — 30 March 1960 73

from the free use by the international community as a
whole of the widest possible area of the high seas. He
refuted the argument, adduced by some delegations, that
coastal States needed an extension of their territorial
sea or an exclusive fishing zone for conservation pur-
poses, on the ground that the special interests which the
coastal States might claim were already adequately
safeguarded by the provisions of the Convention on
Fishing and Conservation of the Living Resources of the
High Seas, adopted by the first Conference in 1958.

12. He was convinced that, if the present Conference
failed to resolve or reduce the differences between States
on the issues of the territorial sea and fishing rights,
those differences would remain a major source of inter-
national friction and disputes. The Japanese delegation
would therefore give serious and sympathetic considera-
tion to any proposal based on justice and equity and put
forward in a spirit of conciliation and concession. But
proposals seeking to extend a coastal State's territorial
sea, or the zone in which it would enjoy exclusive fishing
rights, to twelve miles or beyond did not seem com-
patible with the principles of justice and equity if they
excluded States which had for many years been fishing
in the areas of the high seas affected, and whose economy
and national livelihood largely depended on fishing in
distant waters. Japan, the leading fishing country of the
world with an annual catch of about five million tons,
had a particular right to stress that point. Its people
derived almost 70 per cent of their animal protein require-
ments from fish, the bulk of which was caught in distant
waters. Moreover, his country's economy was heavily
dependent on foreign trade and shipping. Thus any
extension of the territorial sea or exclusive fishing zones
would immediately and seriously affect Japan's economy
and standards of living. Therefore, if his delegation
supported any proposal which went beyond the tradi-
tional three-mile limit, it would be doing so in spite of
the heavy sacrifice entailed. In such a case his country
would be giving overriding consideration to the interests
of mankind as a whole, and would act solely in a spirit
of conciliation and concession, which he hoped would be
reciprocated by other States.

13. He emphasized that the purpose of the present Con-
ference was to establish an effective rule of law, which
was essential to international peace and co-operation.
The new convention must not be a mere paper agree-
ment; it would have to be faithfully observed in toto
and by all States. Such rights as it might confer on
coastal or non-coastal States might not be set at nought
or circumvented by unilateral action on any pretext
whatsoever. The Conference could mark an important
milestone in the history of the international community,
and he appealed to all taking part in it to be unsparing
in their efforts to accomplish the task set them.

14. Mr. PFEIFFER (Federal Republic of Germany)
said that, his Government's attitude towards the breadth
of the territorial sea and fishing limits not having changed
since the first United Nations Conference on the Law
of the Sea, he would merely outline the arguments
adduced by the representative of the Federal Republic
of Germany in the First Committee of the first Con-
ference on 14 March and 10 April 1958.4

4 Ibid., vol. Ill, 15th and 55th meetings.

15. The Federal Republic of Germany had always upheld
the principle of the freedom of the seas, and had con-
sistently supported a breadth of three nautical miles for
the territorial sea.
16. In his Government's view, the establishment of an
exclusive fishing zone outside the territorial sea was an
innovation which might well restrict the freedom of the
seas, place the acquired rights of certain States, including
the Federal Republic of Germany, in jeopardy, and
entail long-term disadvantages for the international
community as a whole and especially for those countries
which were at present claiming an exclusive fishing zone.
The argument had been put forward in favour of the
establishment of such zones that both the dejure and the
de facto situation had been modified by the creation of
many States which were still inadequately equipped to
engage in distant-water fishing, and which ought therefore
to be allowed to benefit from a contiguous fishing zone
in which they would be protected from all foreign
competition. But it was legitimate to ask whether that
argument did not overlook the temporary nature of the
situation. Those new nations had both an inexhaustible
demographic potential and vast natural resources. Their
remarkable impetus was far from spent, and it was
probable that they would soon catch up with — if
indeed they did not outrun — other States which had
hitherto had the advantage over them in the technical
field. Rather than taking a stand on a purely temporary
situation, therefore, it would be better to count on a
future in which the rational exploitation of the common
resources of mankind would be attended not only by
equality of rights but also, and to a far greater extent
than at present, by technological equality. The day
was not far distant when the young States, having
equipped themselves for distant-water fishing, might
well find themselves baulked everywhere by the twelve-
mile limit. Moreover, respect for the principles hitherto
in force would in no wise prevent the Conference from
taking account, as his delegation had already suggested,
of the special interests of those countries whose economies
were largely dependent upon fishing.

17. Such had been, and still was, the attitude of the
Federal Republic of Germany. However, anxious as it
was not spurn any initiative likely to promote universal
agreement, his delegation was prepared to give careful
consideration to any modification that might be suggested,
to enable the Conference to come to a successful con-
clusion, provided always that any such modification did
not prejudice his country's vital interests, and that any
material sacrifice accepted was compensated by the moral
satisfaction of having contributed to a general agreement.

18. With those considerations in mind, his delegation
would support those proposals which were closest to
the existing rules, would best safeguard the principle
of the freedom of the seas and would take account of
historical developments. Of all those so far submitted
to the Conference, the United States proposal (A/CONF.
19/C.1/L.3) came closest to the ideas of the Govern-
ment of the Federal Republic of Germany. It had the
merit of recognizing the existence of certain acquired
fishing rights — although it appreciably restricted them.
In that connexion, the Committee should note the wide
scope of the restrictions provided in the United States
proposal, under which the coastal State, by improving



74 Meetings of the Committee of the Whole

its equipment and methods, could increase the yield of
its fisheries year by year. Conversely, fishing craft from
distant countries, no matter how efficient their equip-
ment, would in future be allowed to take from the zone
in question only the quantities and species of fish that
they had caught during the base period. That meant
that the margin between the yield of national fisheries
and that of foreign fishing vessels would be continually
increasing to the benefit of the coastal State. The United
States proposal, therefore, called for real sacrifices
from those States which enjoyed acquired rights, and
the resulting losses should not, as certain members of
the Committee had attempted to do, be belittled. If,
after some hesitation, the delegation of the Federal
Republic of Germany had decided to support the United
States proposal — despite its attendant drawbacks —
it had done so solely as a contribution to the success of
the second United Nations Conference on the Law of
the Sea.

The meeting rose at 4.15 p.m.


	Main Menu
	Master File
	Document List

	Full Text Search
	Previous View
	Close Document



